IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANIEL R. BUILER,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 68,021

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL J. MINERVA ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT APPLYING HARMLESS ERROR AND AFFIRMING CONVICTIONS WHEN CONFUSING AND CONTRADICTORY INSTRUCTIONS WERE GIVEN ON A MATERIAL ISSUE CONFLICTS EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY WITH DECISIONS OF OTHER APPELLATE COURTS.

The entire panel of the district court found that the trial judge erred by modifying the standard instruction on use of force. Petitioner's theory of defense was that he was attacked by the homeowner and shot him in self defense. Petitioner was not at home when the shooting occurred so the instruction did not apply to his own actions. The homeowner did not

claim to be armed or be acting in self defense so the instruction was inapplicable to him also.

Petitioner was entitled to have the jury instructed on justifiable use of force as his theory of defense; that instruction was given as follows:

There has been raised as the defense that Daniel R. Butler was justified in the use of force likely to cause death or great bodily harm against William E. Jones. Daniel R. Butler was justified in the use of that force if he reasonably believed that its use was necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself or another at the hands of William E. Jones.

In deciding whether the defendant was justified in the use of force likely to cause death or great bodily harm, you must judge him by the circumstances by which he was surrounded at the time the force was used. The danger facing the defendant need not have been actual; however, to justify the use of force likely to cause death or great bodily harm, the appearance of danger must have been so real that a reasonably cautious and prudent person under the same circumstances would have believed that the danger could be avoided only through the use of that force based upon appearances the defendant must have actually believed that the danger was real.

The defendant cannot justify his use of force likely to cause death or great bodily harm unless he used every reasonable means within his power and consistent with his own safety to avoid the danger before resorting to that force. The [f]act [sic] that the defendant was wrongfully attacked can [not][sic] justify his use of force likely to cause death or great bodily harm if by retreating he could have avoided the need to use that force; however, if the defendant was placed in the position of imminent death or great bodily harm and it would have increased his own danger to retreat, then his use of force likely to cause death or great bodily harm was justifiable.

(A-9-10).

In contrast with those rights accruing to petitioner, the jury was then told:

If a person is attacked in his own home or on his own premises, he has no duty to retreat and has a

lawful right to stand his ground and meet force with force, even to the extent of using force likely to cause death or great bodily harm if it was necessary to prevent death or great bodily harm to himself or another.

Jurors here were unable to give petitioner the benefit of the general self defense instruction even if they believed his testimony that Jones (occupant of the house) was armed. In that event the jury had been instructed that Jones had a right to be armed. By implication, the petitioner had no right to defend himself from Jones' justifiable use of force in self defense. The modification of the instruction by the trial judge in effect negated completely any defense petitioner had.

The district court majority found that the instruction pertaining to the occupant's right to use force if attacked at home was harmless error. The court did not explain how it was harmless. Conflict jurisdiction exists because the first district court applied harmless error to a situation which other courts have not. This is sufficient to support discretionary review. Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis, 401 So.2d 1341 (Fla. 1981).

Florida courts have consistently rejected the harmless error doctrine as a cure for contradictory and confusing instructions similar to those given here.

In <u>Finch v. State</u>, 116 Fla. 437, 156 So. 489 (1934) the court proclaimed:

An instruction which tends to confuse rather than enlighten, and which is calculated to and may mislead the jury and cause them to arrive at a conclusion that otherwise might not be reached by them should not be given, and if given is reversible error. . . .

116 Fla. at 443 (emphasis added).

This rule was applied in <u>Shannon v. State</u>, 463 So.2d 589 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) when the trial judge instructed the jury that a person is never

justified in the use of any force to resist arrest and also gave a charge, requested by the defense, that an accused could use non-deadly force to resist an arrest if the officer used excessive force. The appellate court said:

Obviously, these statements are diametrically opposed; they confuse - rather than explain - a key principle of law in defendant's case. The trial court has an obligation to give full instructions on applicable principles of law. [citation omitted] Implicit is the requirement that instructions be coherent and comprehensible. Those given in the case at bar fail to meet this minimum standard and, thus, we must reverse.

463 So.2d at 590.

The Second District reversed a conviction when the defendant argued that the trial court's summary instruction on excusable homicide "may have misled the jury." <u>Blitch v. State</u>, 427 So.2d 785, 786 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). The court agreed, saying that a plausible misconstruction of the instructions could have led the jury to the improper conclusion that "the excusable homicide defense was not available to appellant since he killed [the victim] with a shotgun." <u>Id</u>. at 787. The court said:

We are aware, of course, that the jury may not have been naively misled by the instruction given. However, we refuse to sustain appellant's conviction on such a fragile assumption.

Ibid.

Affirmance of petitioner's conviction by the district court also expressly and directly conflicts with <u>Stripling v. State</u>, 349 So.2d 187 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977), <u>cert.denied</u>, 359 So.2d 1220. In giving an instruction on entrapment in <u>Stripling</u>, the judge included a statement, not part of the standard charge, that entrapment is not available to a defendant who denies committing the crime. The District Court reversed because the defendant was charged with a conspiracy as well as other crimes and the

defendant could have denied being involved in a conspiracy but claimed entrapment as to the overt acts. In commenting on the instructions the Court said they were:

[C] onfusing by virtue of the fact that when an instruction on entrapment was rendered, the court found that [the defendant] had presented sufficient evidence with respect thereto to warrant such a charge. As a result of the court further instructing that the defense was unavailable to an accused who denied commission of the acts charged, the jurors, even if they believed [the defendant] was entrapped, could not then give him the benefit of the entrapment defense because he denied the charges.

349 So.2d at 190.

Swindle v. State, 254 So.2d 811 (Fla. 2d DCA 1971) conflicts with the first district court's decision. There the court said an instruction was

erroneous and prejudicial since it was not germane to the theory of the prosecution nor was it advanced as a defense by appellant.

Id. at 812.

In <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 171 So.2d 903 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965) the defendant was charged with second degree murder and claimed that he shot the victim with a pistol in self defense. His version of the offense, if believed, would have entitled him to an acquittal. In addition to charging the jury on defendant's right of self defense the trial judge also gave an instruction that it was a crime to carry a pistol without a license. No evidence had been presented about whether the defendant had a license. The second district rejected the state's contention that the error was harmless. The court said that the jury could have inferred that if the defendant wrongly possessed a firearm he was not entitled to claim self defense. That is exactly the situation created by the instruction at petitioner's trial.

Finally, the instructions in the case were conclusively rendered harmful by the prosecutor's argument, quoted in part in Judge Ervin's

dissent, that;

even if you believe the defendant's story that this rifle was present, I submit to you that the victim in this case had every right to have that rifle present, and this man had no opportunity, had no right to fire, that he did not have the right to exercise this self defense due to the fact he was in this man's home.

Affirming petitioner's conviction in the face of the combined errors in instruction and argument conflicts with <u>Harvey v. State</u>, 448 So.2d 578, 581 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) in which the court said:

The trial judge in this case should have corrected the misleading instruction. The instruction, the prosecutor's repeated misstatements of the law and the obvious jury confusion deprived Harvey of a fair trial so as to constitute fundamental error which requires reversal even in the absence of timely objections.

V CONCLUSION

This Court has jurisdiction to grant discretionary review of the decision of the first district because that decision is in express and direct conflict with numerous rulings of other appellate courts rejecting harmless error when confusing and contradictory instructions are given on a material issue.

Respectfully submitted,

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER

SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL J. MIMERVA

Assistant Public Defender

Post Office Box 671

Tallahassee, Florida 32302

(904) 488-2458

Attorney for Petitioner