IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANIEL R. BUTLER,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent does not accept the statement of the facts and case as stated on pages one through four because it contains "facts" found only in the dissenting opinion and that may not form the predicate for conflict jurisdiction.

The facts of this case as developed at trial are not in dispute nor are they complex. Petitioner contended that he shot Mr. Jones in self-defense because the latter came out of his bedroom still half asleep allegedly toting a shotgun and he (petitioner) shot Mr. Jones before Mr. Jones could shoot him. The State's witnesses testified that Mr. Jones was not armed when he came out of the bedroom in his home after being awakened by his son at approximately 4:00 a.m. due to the disturbance caused by petitioner's presence in Jones' home.

The trial judge's instructions pertaining to self-defense were as follows:

There has been raised as a defense that Daniel R. Butler was justified in the use of force likely to cause death or great bodily harm against William E. Jones. Daniel R. Butler was justified in the use of that force if he reasonably believed that its use was necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself or another at the hands of William E. Jones.

In deciding whether the defendant was justified in the use of force likely to cause death or great bodily harm, you must judge him by the circumstances by which he was surrounded at the time the force was used. The danger facing the defendant need not have been actual; however, to justify the use of force likely to cause death or great bodily harm, the appearance of danger must have been so real that a reasonably cautious and prudent person under the same circumstances would have believed that the danger could be avoided only through the use of that force based upon appearances the defendant must have actually believed that the danger was real.

The defendant cannot justify his use of force likely to cause death or great bodily harm unless he used every reasonable means whether his power and consistent with his own safety to avoid the danger before resorting to that force. The fact that the defendant was wrongfully attacked can justify his use of force likely to cause death or great bodily harm if by retreating he could have avoided the need to use that force; however, if the defendant was placed in the position of imminent death or great bodily harm and it would have increased his own danger to retreat, then his use of force likely to cause death or great bodily harm was justifiable.

If a person is attacked in his own home or on his own premises, he has no duty to retreat and has a lawful right to stand his ground and meet force with force, even to the extent of using force likely to cause death or great bodily harm if it was necessary to prevent death or great bodily harm to himself or another.

If you find that the defendant, who because of threats or prior difficulties with the victim had reasonable grounds to believe that he was in danger of death or great bodily harm at the hands of the victim, then the defendant had the right to arm himself; however, the defendant cannot justify the use of force likely

to cause death or great bodily harm if after having armed himself he renewed his difficulty with the victim when he could have avoided the difficulty.

If in your consideration of the issue of self-defense you have a reasonable doubt on the question of whether or not the defendant was justified in the use of force, you should find the defendant not guilty; however, if from the evidence you are convinced that the defendant was not justified in the use of force, then you should find him guilty if all the elements of the charge have been proved.

(R 453-454).

The majority opinion concluded that under either scenerio the defense of home instruction, as modified, was irrelevant, and thus legally erroneous. The majority, however, concluded a "review of the record and of the totality of the instructions given satisfies us that, although the instruction was not proper, it was harmless error in this case." (Opinion at p. 3).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner has totally failed to demonstrate the decision rendered by the lower tribunal is in express and direct conflict with the decision of another tribunal on the same point of law and has not demonstrated this Court has jurisdiction to review the decision complained of.

ISSUE

IS THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT IN THE INSTANT CASE IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS OF ANOTHER APPELLATE COURT ON THE SAME POINT OF LAW.

ARGUMENT

Petitioner's statement of the question presented is pregnant with the assumption that the instruction complained of was confusing and contradictory when in fact it was not.

The State does not agree that the instruction quoted on page three of the opinion was irrelevant because the victim did not assert the defense of self-defense and because the victim was not on trial. More importantly, however, the instruction, as modified was an accurate statement of the law for a person, whether he be a defendant or a victim--which is only determined by the verdict--has no duty to retreat from his home when confronted by a hostile aggressor. The privilege of defending one's home applies to non-defendants as well as defendants. To suggest it was irrelevant for the jury to understand Mr. Jones' rights and duties when the dispute involved him is incredible.

Be that as it may, if the instruction was irrelevant to the issues, it could not have mislead the jury which is essential to a determination of prejudice which is exactly why the majority correctly held the error was harmless. If the jury believed the State's witnesses, then Jones was not armed and the self-defense theory was correctly rejected. If, on the other hand, the jury believed the defendant, the instruction would not mislead them for it merely informs the jury that "if a person is attacked in his own home . . . he has no duty to retreat." Petitioner contended he was attacked by Jones and there was no testimony from him that he was attacking Jones. The instruction was not contradictory or confusing as opined by Judge Ervin and petitioner. It was an accurate statement of the law that, at best, was not really material to the ultimate issue.

The cases cited by petitioner, to-wit: Finch v. State, 116 Fla. 437, 156 So. 489 (1934); Shannon v. State, 463 So.2d 589 (Fla.4th DCA 1985); Blitch v. State, 427 So.2d 785 (Fla.2d DCA 1983); Stripling v. State, 349 So.2d 187 (Fla.3rd DCA 1977); Swindle v. State, 254 So.2d 811 (Fla.2d DCA 1971) and Wilson v. State, 171 So.2d 903 (Fla.2d DCA 1965) all involved incorrect statements of law which related to the issue to be decided by the jury and thus possessed a likelihood that the jury was misled. Under such circumstances harmless error could not be found by the appellate court.

In a land where even a federal constitutional error may be deemed harmless, Harrington v. California, 395 U.S.

520 (1969) the State submits that it is probably legally impossible for two decisions applying a harmless error analysis reaching different results in always differing contexts to legally conflict

under the Florida Constitution. "Obviously, two cases cannot be in conflict if they can be validly distinguished." Morningstar v. State, 405 So.2d 778, 783 (Fla.4th DCA 1981), Anstead, J., concurring. This perhaps explains why petitioner attempts to cast the issue as a jury instruction ruling rather than a harmless error disposition. He, of course, wishes to have this Court re-review the entire record to simply determine the district court's assessment of his individual case was "correct". That has never been the proper use of conflict certiorari, Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So.2d 808 (Fla.1958) and it is not proper under Article V, Fla.Const., in its amended form. Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla.1980).

CONCLUSION

Petitioner has failed to demonstrate the requisite conflict essential to this Court's jurisdiction and therefore respondent requests that the petition for discretionary review be denied.